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Beyond Ecclesiology : some implications which arise from considering medieval chancels as buildings designed for music
Summary: Medieval churches were built for activities not understood by nineteenth-century restorers who had to re-adapt buildings without firm documentary evidence of their original designers’ concepts.  There is now a need to reconsider Rickman’s system of ‘naming of parts’ and the terms still in use (nearly all post-medieval) to describe churches, adopting instead a less anachronistic descriptive vocabulary, one which also takes into account the implications of re-integrating the history of performance of music into the history of church design.  There are lost, unexplored or misunderstood structures associated with music and liturgy, especially in the north-eastern areas of churches, which require explanation.  The designed layout of chancels, their acoustics and lighting and their decoration, including their ‘girdles’ which symbolise collegiate activity, need careful re-assessment, as do rood-lofts and their possible uses.  Some examples of misinterpretation are given to illustrate a suggestion that the infrastructure provided for the daily performance of music, including possible positions of organs and their bellows, should be considered as an essential part of our understanding and assessment of a medieval church building. 

[Word count of summary: 190 words ; essay alone : 9976 words] 
Notices announcing that such and such a church ‘has stood here a silent witness for seven/eight/nine hundred years’ are not so common these days as they used to be, replaced as they are now with posters for ‘messy church’ and ‘informal worship’.  These imply that the church’s silence is broken from time to time by the cries of children, the noise of drums and guitars and the rattle of coffee cups.

The medieval church was very much more busy and noisy ; it was in fact an arena for a full-on sensory experience of light, colour, and smells and for social interaction, meetings and contemplation.  We know all this since the publication more than twenty years ago of ‘The Stripping of the Altars’,
 and if music – almost totally absent from his book - is added to the mix of formal, popular and private devotion and social assembly described by Eamon Duffy, then it becomes clear that a medieval church was in every sense a living and breathing building.

Indeed, the daily devotional music of the later medieval church has entirely disappeared.  It disappeared every day as soon as it was sung: music is like that, being more evanescent than flower displays.  Even if church music had not been brought to a sudden and violent end in early 1549,
 the manner and extent of music performed five hundred years ago would anyway by now be a long-decayed echo.
With the fading of the music have also faded memories of why the places where it was performed, east of the rood-screen, were designed as they were.  We also find it hard, in this essentially post-Christian era, to recreate imaginatively why the remainder of the church came to have the form, shape and size that we see now.  For us, it is difficult to know quite how to treat these buildings: are they sacred spaces or community assets ?
Victorian architects and their clients certainly knew what to do with churches – and that was to restore them.  The Cambridge-Camden propagandists of restoration also knew; they had visited some old churches and seen that they possessed certain general and particular features that were apparently integral parts of their design.  Such matters as the placing of altars and choir stalls became subject to church polemics, but – thanks to the Ecclesiologists – it was clear that there were ‘chancels’ for choirs and the clergy and a ‘nave’ for the people.  Restorers were up against the problem that they were re-adapting a church already adapted for services of the various English Common-Prayer books issued from 1549 onwards.  They could not put back the clock to 1548, even if they wanted or were legally allowed to do so.  So compromises were necessary, and these resulted in the church buildings we commonly see today: a ‘nave’ full of pews or chairs for people who take part in the dialogue with clerics that has characterised church services since the Reformation, and a ‘chancel’ filled with seats for choristers, an organ, early seventeenth-century Laudian or later altar rails, together with late nineteenth- or early twentieth-century altar equipment at its extreme east end.  ‘Transepts’ are now crammed full of the current kit of a modern church, and the tower might shelter a kitchen and toilets.  Empty choir stalls make good places to store boxes of duplicating paper, unused pulpits are ideal for lodging power-point screens and a disused ‘vestry’ is perfect for storing flower stands and vases, churchwardens’ wands, brushes and cleaning materials.

An architectural historian will of course ignore all the modern impedimenta.  He or she will read the building in the established Pevsnerian way as an essay in disentangling its various building phases so as to make a coherent local chronology while also making reference to other contemporary buildings.  Apart from adjustments to the naming of phases of the long ‘perpendicular’ period of later-medieval architecture, the system used is still basically that set out by Rickman in 1817.  Individual components are assessed in a deductive exercise of ‘naming of parts’ which examines the particular and then makes general conclusions about the evolution of a church’s architecture.  Questions as to why the church was designed as it was, and then subjected to changes, or why original parts have since disappeared, are not asked.  Answers need an inductive and holistic approach, which this essay attempts to take. 
Everyone knows that the Victorian restorers did things their way and for usually good reason: the churches they inherited were unsafe, often badly treated or seriously neglected.
  They were also at the mercy of a general medievalising zeitgeist.  Unfortunately, at the time of the most active mid-century period of church restoration work, documentary sources useful for understanding what actually went on in medieval churches had hardly been found, let alone transcribed, translated and published and their implications assimilated.  If they had been, things might have been different – as they should be now, when we have no excuse for ignoring them.

In order to interpret, even to describe, the churches they were dealing with, ecclesiologists were obliged to create a new vocabulary to name the parts.  There was much discussion as to terms for certain features of churches: for instance, should a drained alcove near an altar be called a ‘piscina’?  This term was derided by those who knew this word to be the Latin for a fish-pond and who preferred ‘lavatorium’ or some such to describe its essential function.  Should a hole driven through a wall be called a ‘hagioscope’ as if its function was to aid the sighting of saints’ relics, or a ‘squint’, from the pursing up an of eye that peers through it ?  Various terms were invented, then abandoned...
And we may smile at these – at least, until we realise that other terms we still commonly use, such as chancel, vestry, aisle and nave, are not of medieval origin.  Some date from the seventeenth century but others from the nineteenth.  Laden with modern linguistic baggage as they are, these terms do not help us to understand or describe the originally-designed functions of those parts of the church they name.  Worse still, without understanding how the various parts of the church were used, we are never going to understand how they were designed – or how their design changed according to changes in need.

As far as chancels are concerned, a knowledge of musical and liturgical history – primarily the former, as the latter developed less over time – is essential to understanding their layout and their various features, both extant and missing.  Starting from a basic need in the twelfth century for a place for an altar for a single priest to sing the daily offices and mass, churches were adapted to accommodate increasingly complex requirements.  By the middle of the fifteenth century, numbers of priests were singing early ‘morrow’ masses for travellers, or in ‘chantries’ or at guild altars to fulfill their sponsors’ bequests, as well as at the high mass of the day.  In addition, singers were performing the whole gamut of offices with polyphonic antiphons and organ music to a standard of professional efficiency that was the admiration of Europe.
  So the design, appearance and furnishings of their work-place, chiefly east of the rood-screen, also changed out of all recognition.

There are very few early written references which use a generic name for this eastern part of a parish church, with very good reason.  This was not a single cell of the building (as a chancel is, in modern terminology) but a complex of buildings which could consist at its fullest extent of as many elements as can still be found in fully-functioning cathedrals today.  These elements include: the quire, the part where the singers are accommodated on their various levels or tiers of seats, from the first-form benches for the boys up to the wide seats for the canons and their vicars choral ; the entry door which is not just a priest’s door, or even the priests’ door, but the one used by all who work east of the normally-locked rood-screen.  This leads into the gathering place between the quire stalls and the sanctuary step, with another door into storage places, usually opposite the entry door, where vestments, music and other precious ornaments were kept ready.  There were other rooms such as rehearsal places for the singers (where there was no chapter house), a room to house the bellows of the organ, and possibly a dormitory room for chorister boys.
  This eastern part of a church building also included the essential working accommodation for guild and chantry priests : private altars either in a chapel north of the sanctuary or in lateral quire chapels parallel with the quire or further west in lateral chapels north and south of a tower or pulpitum.  A rood-screen and its loft defined the boundary between these activities and those of the parishioners, the populus.

If they needed a generic term for that part of the church over which they had no jurisdiction until the mid-1540s, churchwardens used the word chaunsell.  Like chaunts, chaunting and chauntry, this word suggests singing.  Which is hardly surpising, since this was the avocation of that part of the church, for between three and four hours daily (six or more on feast days) every day of the week, the time taken for the offices and the masses of any particular day being governed by its liturgical kalendar status.  The complexity of this service work can be compared with the work of a test-match cricketer, concentrating on perfecting a difficult art, hedged about with centuries of arcane rules governing how and what one does and when one does it.  Training to perform the musical ritual of the church started at an early age and demanded concentration,  application and intelligence.
 
Most of these medieval liturgical arrangements were well-known to AWN Pugin and the better-informed of his generation, but the standardising tendency of the post-industrial revolution era inevitably clashed with the unpredictable variety of solutions that the later-medieval church provided to incorporate the rich furnishings that its people and clergy felt necessary to the increase of devotion.  A fully-functioning medieval church appealed first to the senses, to our majority sub-conscious selves, and only second to a conscious intellectual assent.  Indeed, the church punished only those who were positively bent on dissent and hardly ever demanded positive doctrinal assent (except by godparents).  It was to prove over the centuries to be a serious mistake for ‘reformed religion’ to try to do the opposite: to standardise belief and practice.  That attempt was also inherited by restorers; it still predominates in many church circles.
In addition to losing sight (and sound) of the music of the later medieval church, nineteenth-century restorers also were confronted with two further problems : to interpret those parts of the eastern end of the church building that no longer existed, and to reuse those parts which no longer had any obvious use.  For us, such interpretations need to be aligned with documents, where these exist.  They can rarely – and in the case of missing items obviously can never - be interpreted solely from physical fragments.  Anyway, a deductive interpretation is doomed to be insufficient in medieval English churches where design outcomes are so idiosyncratically variable.
It is clear too that in many cases nineteenth-century restorers’ interpretations were simply wrong, basically because the only models to hand were post-Tridentine churches on the continent of Europe.  Unlike English churches, whose chancels had effectively been abandoned in 1549, the post-Tridentine Roman church, which had no love of the ‘gothic’, emptied chancels of choirs and organs, raised the ‘high altar’ in a literal way and demolished rood-screens so that the faithful could see the performance of the mass, and in particular the elevation, without hindrance.
  The post-Prayer Book Church in England was entirely immune from changes which might be imputable to Tridentine decisions, even though its last English cardinal, Reginald Pole, preached at one of the final gatherings at Trento.
By hindsight we can see that any attempt to standardise restoring approaches would be doomed to failure: churches had been founded within a varied hierarchical scheme of monastic, clerical and lay patronage and then altered to meet evolving demands throughout the medieval period.  Even though Rickman had named the parts, anyone could have seen that in practice they jostled with each other in churches across all the named categories.  In addition, the Victorian Church of England was at odds with itself over what it wanted from these churches in terms of equipment: from the most basic for the evangelicals to the more elaborate for the slowly-emergent ‘high church’  clergy.  Quite naturally, those clergy inclined to ‘ritualism’, and their favoured architects would be more inclined to look for Easter sepulchres, drains or sedilia or to preserve celures than their low-church colleagues, who found them embarrassing and difficult to explain away.

It seems that for some - as yet unexplained - reason, neither party (low or high) considered looking for signs of restorable musical accommodation for singers or organs if this had gone missing or been demolished.  As a result, their efforts to accommodate mixed choirs and bulky ‘romantic’ organs in spaces not designed for them often led to design chaos, with clumsy, ugly and inappropriate solutions.  
There were no moves to restore to sanctity a chantry chapel which had been closed down in 1547 and might subsequently have been re-used by churchwardens as a store room once they had access to the east end of the church and rood-screen doors had been removed, or at least unlocked, by order.
  (Thus later causing a need for altar rails as a substitute place to receive communion and to protect the sanctuary from profane visitors.)  As a rebaptised ‘vestry’ usually had an access door from the outside if it had been a chantry, it might be fitted up with a fireplace in rural areas so that a curate could take a meal between Morning and Evening Prayers.  A former ‘sacristy’, with smaller and barred windows, would always have had its access only from inside the church, and therefore be less useful as a vestry than as a store room, until an outside door was added.
In practice, many such buildings at the east end of churches, including sometimes even the sanctuary,
 were simply left to fall down, in the absence of a rector.  Many of these smaller attached buildings have never been rebuilt and if they were chantry chapels they still show drains and the backs of Easter sepulchres on what are now exterior north-east walls.
  Others were rebuilt as nineteenth-century vestries on, more or less, their former sites.
  Where either chantries or sacristies had a second storey, potentially for housing organ bellows and/or for storage of very special precious materials (heavily-barred and shuttered windows are the clue to this), these rooms were simply turned over to long-term storage.  They were then subject only to the occasional urge to ‘clear stuff out’ ; they remain even now closed places, completely unknown to the great majority of those who administer, use or study churches.
These ancillary buildings therefore, though vital to the central performance of the medieval church, are scarcely ever mentioned by architectural historians, or are mis-described.  Pevsner hardly ever mentioned them ; an exception was at Cranfield in Bedfordshire, where he had to walk past a two-storey example on his way through the churchyard towards the south door.
  At Bassingbourn in Cambridgeshire, a former  chantry with its piscina (and possible bellows-room above, in view of a blocked window) is mis-described as a vestry in the most recent revision of Buildings of England.

Similarly, in all the published descriptions of the collegiate church of Shottesbrooke in Berkshire, from Butterfield’s in the 1840s up to the most recent edition of Buildings of England, there is no mention of the fact that at some time the original north-eastern window of the chancel there too was blocked up and a doorway made beneath it into a former building.  This must have been done when the responds of the west and east arches of the central tower were remade (for new screens ?) in a ‘Perpendicular’ fashion, at the time of a widespread demand for improvements in musical and liturgical facilities in reaction to the threat of Lollardry.  Here and at Bassingbourn such work very probably included the installation of an organ and its bellows room in churches not originally designed to accommodate them.

It is true that, since these eastern-arm buildings did not originally come within their purview, these vestry, sacristy or chantry buildings are rarely mentioned in churchwardens’ accounts. Anyway, the word ‘vestry’
 was associated with churches only very late in the medieval period, and ‘sacristy’ does not appear in English until the 1650s,
 to indicate the place where a sacrist (sacrista) kept vestments, music volumes, relics and sacred vessels.
Usage of the word ‘nave’ is also post-medieval, from 1649.  The usual words employed by later medieval churchwardens when they need to distinguish their part of the church from the eastern part are church or ecclesia.
  These words were used also in, for example, Edwardian Commissioners’ returns to tag those ‘goods’ left in the hands of the churchwardens – no longer the clergy, it should be noted – for use in the radically diminished Prayer Book services, once other items considered superfluous or superstitious had been carried off to be sold or melted down.  The usual term now for the side parts of the peoples’ church is ‘aisle’ but this word was used only from about 1700 onwards, with cross-aisle (meaning what we now call transepts) being used from 1772, and in confusion with ‘alley’ to mean the passage between rows of (‘box’-, mostly) pews in 1731.  In pre-Reformation accounts, the word used is indeed alley or something similar, but it is not clear if this really means what we now call an aisle or simply the space between (late-medieval) pews, as this term is current from around 1464, when such pews were being introduced.  We therefore have a problem in re-establishing a vocabulary for describing a later-medieval church, to use terms that make sense in that context ; we have forgotten that (for example) aisles were built primarily as processional paths.
One of the most problematic words is ‘transept’, now used to mean the parts of the church to the north and south of a central area between the head of the nave and the quire.  It is in fact a late-medieval formation (dating from around 1538) from two words meaning ‘across’ and ‘enclosure’; it is correctly defined, using modern terms, as ‘the transverse part of a cruciform church considered apart from the nave’.  It is indeed to be considered ‘apart from the nave’ ; it was always closed on the west side of the central space by a screen which, with the western screens of the transept’s chapels, delineated the division between the church and the quire/sanctuary. 
A better term for ‘transept’, which is undescriptive despite its being an older term in giving no hint of a sacred use, might be simply ‘north or south lateral chapels’.  That these lateral chapels were set-apart spaces can easily be seen from the way in which ‘squints’ are angled : they are placed not only to see towards an altar but also are designed to be used from specific places which are almost always in the ecclesia to the west of the original positions of rood-screens and side screens.
  In failing to see where the essential division was between western and eastern parts of the church building, restorers placed the transepts in the wrong sector, puzzling the alert visitor and misleading historians.
Having thus desacralised transepts, unwittingly or not, restorers then used them as spaces for extra pews, pulpits, organs and choir-stalls in the nineteenth and twentieth centuries ; they are being used for even more diverse purposes at present.  As a result, the correct reading of a building designed primarily for worship has been seriously impeded.  In its western parts, as Duffy described, worship consisted of people awaiting the elevation with primers in their hands, or taking part in those ceremonies such as baptism and the remaining five minor sacraments that most concerned the people.  They would also use their church as a meeting place for making contracts, taking part in plays and in the annual solemn reading of the list of benefactors (the bede roll
) and other ‘lay’ activities, in full consciousness of the fact that beyond the rood-screen was a holy place which was set apart, normally never to be entered into by the untonsured lay person other than the highest in the land or, if invited, the family of the founder of a chantry or college.  
Therefore the two parts were distinct and separated by the people’s last and largest gift to their church, the large and extremely expensive rood, its attendant figures, skulls and bones
 and the Doom painting.  Its coved platforms and upper panelled balustrades
 were supported by an intricately carved, coloured and embellished  screen with its dado of painted saints, universal and local, and doctors of the church.  Loss of the rood- and other screens, in part or whole, inevitably led to the radical diminishing of the sacrality of quire and sanctuary and ultimately to the homogenising of the whole church.  Thus also arose the necessity of renaming those parts whose distinctiveness had never previously been in question.
The rood-screen is only one of at least three aspects of the medieval church that had its origins in the pre-Schism universal church.  A second is quite well known, the practice of blessing ordinary bread at the parish mass for distribution as ‘holy bread’.  Another is the practice of ornamenting quire and sanctuary with a carefully-profiled line of stonework,   set about six or seven feet above floor level and running around all the walls where not interrupted by ornamented seats or doorways.  This line is not a ‘string course’ as it is usually called ; it cannot be, as it is usually not uniformly level. Although it lies quite often just below the sills of north and south windows (so as to clear the reredoses of the quire seats), it rises over doorways, drains and sedilia ; on the east wall of the sanctuary it rises over the space for the tables behind the altar, sometimes up to the sill of the east window.  A similar line can also be found in lateral chapels and on the outside walls of those parts of a church building east of the rood-screen.  It is not to be seen in every church, so its presence requires another explanation, and the former link with the Eastern church may supply this.  In Orthodox church architecture, walls incorporate a line of stonework or brickwork to signify the girdle of Christ.  Where it is present in English churches, it appears to mean that there has been a group of priests and clerks ‘bound together’ to perform the Opus Dei, the daily service work which they had carried out collectively for centuries before the Schism.
Latin for ‘to be bound together’ is ‘co-ligere’.  This might be the origin of the word ‘college’, used long before the Conquest to describe groups of secular priests in all kinds of communites, from cathedral to parochial. They would naturally have wished to promote the continuation of their work and so when not singing they turned to teaching ; this was also an important component of the work of those priests whose primary duty was to perform the chantry masses.  William Wykeham, bishop of Winchester’s foundation of a large-scale chantry college in that town, was only one of many of all kinds of such institutions, statutory – that is, having foundation statutes – or otherwise.  The educational side of this college was very important, second only to the duty of service work.  What was still being referred to as the ‘Wynchestre college at Oxenforde’ in 1448
 was the institution there to which boys were sent when sufficiently well educated in reading and writing the Latin in which they were immersed every day of the week during those services.  The same pattern was repeated by Bishop Waynfleet of Lincoln, whose local Lincolnshire college sent boys to his institution at Magdalen, by Henry VI from Eton to the King’s college at the other place and most famously by Thomas Wolsey, from his Ipswich college to his Cardinal college.  And by many more local lords, with or without statutes : the Wadhams of Ilminster in Dorset were still doing the same thing when they built a collegiate link with Oxford in the 1620s.

The import of this is to alert the historian to the significance of this ‘girdle’ sign, as well as the others mentioned : the position of drains, the provision or not of sanctuary seats, the placing and dating of doors into chaunsells and other ancillary buildings, the spaces allowed for quire stalls, the placing and size of access to rood-lofts.  Where the ‘girdle’ sign exists in a place without documented collegiate activity, there may be a reason to suspect that it is documentation, not the teaching and musical activities carried out there, that may be missing.
On matters relating to sanctuaries, it may be well to call attention to the cupboards quite frequently found in them, because they may tell us something about how the sanctuary was used on a practical day-to-day basis.  Normally these cupboards are small and would have been able only to contain ‘half-books’ and not volumes, the word for a tall and wide book of the sort that would be placed on a large music dext or on an eagle lectern.
  Every church, since the thirteenth century, was obliged to possess at least eight such books, though most had many more (forty is not a rare total) and their safe storage must have posed a considerable problem. 

Because missing items are just as important for understanding a church building as those that time and chance have allowed to remain, while still in the sanctuary one might recall two major sonic items that can too easily be overlooked.  Every church needed to ring bells of all sorts, but the liturgically most important and most used bells were not those in the tower.  They were the sacring and other bells, to be rung at key points in the consecration sequence of the mass, in the sanctuary.  In a gable bell-tower on the western peak of the church above the rood, there was often a substantial ‘sanctus’ bell to be rung in answer to the sacring bell, as a signal to those away from the church that the high point of the mass had arrived.  It is a moot point to know if the sanctus bell was commonly used before the institution of the Angelus in nearly its present form in the later twelfth century (possibly originating at Canterbury
) since clearly the same bell could be used for both ; the few surviving ones have names such as Gabriel.
  If there is now no sanctus bell turret, its former existence should not necessarily be doubted ; it might be possible to find clues as to where the bell was rung from, either by the existence of ‘squints’ which could have no other purpose than for the ringer to see the elevation, or from marks made by bell ropes on arches near the eastern end of the peoples’ church.
  

Here a general point might be made : the public at large are more interested in how a church was designed and used than in any subtle differences there might be between various dateable (or not) architectural items, which they can anyway see for themselves if they wish.  In other words, they might be more interested to know about Sanctus or Angelus ringing (with an explanation of the importance of this in the life of the ordinary person of the time) and therefore the marks of a bell-rope on an arch, than being assured that this particular arch was (possibly) made at a certain time and (possibly) before another arch in the church.  It is of course vital for every historian to know the sequence of events, from surviving documents as well as the building itself, but only in order to throw light on how any change, whether motivated by liturgical and musical elaboration or by social changes, affected the church as a place of worship and meeting. 
In particular, the study of windows (as windows
... ) is vital.  It is not enough to say that windows gradually became larger as time went on, even if that were perfectly true ; what anyone looking at them really wants to know is why they were placed as they were and how they were originally glazed.
 So if a window was placed at the eastern end of the south side of the church, it might be concluded that this was placed there to light the church’s then-new or rebuilt rood-screen and its loft coving.  The same might be the case with clerestory windows : one would hardly go to the enormous trouble and expense of commissioning a new roof (weighing several hundreds of tons of oak and lead) to be built by highly-paid carpenters, having built up walls with a considerable number of expensive new windows at a high level, just to be able to read one’s devotional books better, though that might be a contributory motivation.  But if the new south windows allowed equinoctial light onto a new life-size crucifix between noon and three in the afternoon around Passiontide, that would be at once a source of wonder and pious satisfaction for the parish - and incidentally a help to us in both dating and understanding this ensemble of artefacts, rood and windows, better.
Similarly, when music became more complex and was no longer sung and improvised upon purely by memory but from the written pages (quires) of quire-books, then there would be a demand, if the possibility of the rebuilding of the chaunsell came up for any reason from the later twelfth century onwards, for its new north and south windows to be larger, longer and lower.  Sometimes even lower windows were inserted to light particular ‘return’ quire stalls
 where the master of a college or his deputy, the precentor, sat during offices.  These new windows were filled with what we now call grisaille glass rather than the figures of saints which might be appropriate over the altar but whose darker presence would make singers’ work unnecessarily difficult.  
There would also be an insistent demand for the best possible acoustic conditions, which might be met by building chaunsells with acoustically-satisfactory proportions such as double-cubes.  Some later churches with lateral quire chapels are less acoustically satisfactory (being less resonant) but one might understand that this was acceptable, even necessary, at a time when polyphonic music had become so extremely complex
 that it was best that there was no reverberation, so that all could hear distinctly what the others were singing.  In this respect, the use of ‘acoustic jars’ may have been there to soak up unwanted harmonics ; they are hardly large enough to amplify middle and lower frequencies, as is usually suggested.
 (The chapel of the King’s college at Cambridge is not satisfactory in this respect ; here higher frequencies are unpleasant.
)   
The English church’s reaction to the Lollards had been to ‘up its game’, and this could account for much of what happened architecturally towards the end of the fourteenth century, when both music and ceremonial became more complex.  By the end of the fifteenth century, church music was rapidly becoming professionalised and the music of the mass was also (uniquely in Europe) polyphonic.  A demand then for better lighting in both quire and sanctuary areas must have been met by inserting further large windows in their north and south walls, in the first place to light central music desks and in the second to highlight ceremonial. 
Processions were an important part of the liturgy, and people wanted to be buried under the paths of sacramental processions, so that north and south entrance doors and their porches became more elaborate.  Western doors were given the significant treatment by sponsors and donors, who made sure that their arms or rebuses were prominently displayed.  So, if there are no western or northern nave doors, what does that say about a church’s liturgical aspirations or the local economic conditions at this later period ?
Rood-screens, the apotheosis (as it were) of the theory that good fences make good neighbours, have been studied by date and typologies, but rarely for their practical purposes.  We can however learn much from their placing (when they are still placed as they were intended to be), from their access arrangements and even from their absence.  Precisely why the the populus rebuilt them and decorated them at such cost (anything up to around £100 was possible) is not totally clear.  There were screens in churches before,
 but they became de rigueur in all parish churches and in free or private chapels by the end of the fifteenth century, and some were still being made or remade up to the early 1540s.  With guild and other fraternal altars, they were a focus for popular socio-religious culture ; for a lay person to pay for a screen and to have his or her name written on it must have been a matter of pride, equivalent to the lordly founding of a chantry or minor college.  Here again, the ad hoc individualism of each church becomes clear, the many ways in which such screens were fitted into the existing building (or it was adapted to them) defying classification.  Except perhaps in one crucial respect, one which might even challenge the received idea that it was the lay people’s exclusive contribution.  

In the majority of churches, the lockeable doorway entrances to access stairs for the lighting, maintenance and (except the candle before the great rood) for extinguishing them are in the ecclesia, usually in one of its alleys.  They can vary from 16” in width to around 24” or 26” and their sills can be up to 3 feet above floor level.  Openings are usually between 5 and 6 feet in height, and the spiral staircase’s steps can be up to 12” each in height (though more often around 8” or 9”), depending on how the stairway could be fitted into the pre-existing fabric.  Where it is clear that such stairways are designed into a newly-built fabric from the start (a factor which might help date the fabric as well as the rood-loft), they start at ground level, and their doorways and steps are wider and less steep.
By contrast, those staircases that start east of the rood-screen, usually from a lateral quire chapel,  nearly always start at floor level, or nearly so.  Their steps are wider and less steep, built into purpose-built stair turrets which are well lit by small windows.  Unlike the ‘western’ ones, they might be useable by someone dressed in choir robes.
  In general, the majority of such eastern stairs are in the south-west of England, but they can be found elsewhere.  If an eastern access suggests that some rood-screen platforms were designed for use by clerks and singer-organ players, in those cases who paid for them ?

There are churches which do not have, and appear never to have had, any stairway access to their rood-screens at all.  These, as far as can be determined at this time, are all large-scale church buildings completed during the latter part of the fifteenth century ; that is, at the same period as those churches which have designed-in access systems.  Three of the best-known churches that lack stairways are Salle in Norfolk, Launceston in Cornwall, and St Mary Redcliffe in Bristol.  All these churches were well-staffed with priests, clerks, singers, organ-players and trainees, well being supported by rich parishioners and undoubtedly supplied with a rood-screen.  Salle’s church almost completely escaped any nineteenth-century alteration-restoration, and the others do not show any signs of deliberate removal of access stair-turrets.  Of these churches, only Salle’s has the bases (dados) of its screen in place, under the chancel arch ; there is no obvious trace of any rood-screens in the other two at all.
Mortises in the extreme low ends of the dado at Salle suggest the possibility of a wooden structure which extended westwards from it.  Large northern and southern lateral transept chapels, funded by prominent local families, are likely to have been seen as private or semi-private areas, so would have been screened off all the way across the eastern limits of the ecclesia.  A large wooden platform, with its own internal stairway (the usual definition of a pulpitum, but here able to support an organ
 and perhaps also the rood and its accompanying figures), could have spanned the crossing to meet up with the western screens of the lateral chapels.  The present nave pews incorporate sufficient medieval parapet carving to go all the way round the top of such a structure.
That a large screen-platform is not improbable can be seen in churches in the west country (and in a few other places
) where the eastern arches of the north and south arcades of the ecclesia are taller and wider than the others.  This suggests they were designed to leave clearance for the wide loft of a massive screen.  One such is at Broad Clyst near Exeter, where the eastern arches are 3’ wider and 2’6” higher than the others, and there is a north-wall access.  The other is at Launceston, where there is no access system at all.  A similar pattern is to be seen at High Wycombe in Buckinghamshire.  Here, a central tower was taken down 1509-10 and the north- and south-eastern arches that replaced it are again wider (by nearly 7 feet) and taller, as indeed they would need to be : the sill height of what seems to have been the loft staircase exit doorway in the north alley is 16 feet from the floor.
Redcliffe’s northern and southern transept spaces each contained at least two eastern chapels.  Their altars would have been in line with the north and south arches which face each other across the western entry to the quire.  A pulpitum between these arches
 would have closed the quire on its eastern front.  Its western edge across the central space might (as at Salle and perhaps Launceston) have formed part of a transverse screen which also defined the western edges of the lateral chapels’ sanctuaries.  In large churches like Salle (where we know there was an organ from the documented presence among the church’s library of an organ book) and Redcliffe, the accommodation of potentially large organs (the small size and scarcity of organs in medieval England being another persistent myth) was a major design requirement.  A quasi-pulpitum would be – as in monasteries and cathedrals – just the best place for it, sonically well-placed to take part in the sung liturgy of the quire and helping to close the otherwise visually-empty lofty spaces above it.

At Redcliffe, as in other large establishments, there would normally have been another smaller organ for daily use, played by a singer and therefore placed near the choir.  There is an upper room on the north side of the north quire alley which is conveniently placed to accommodate the bellows of such an organ.
  Through a hole which is hidden behind some carved niche canopies, the bellows operators could see the conductus of the singing quire.  He was placed on the eastern edge of the southern quire stalls (the same place as the conductus’ seat in the quire-stalls at Stratford-upon-Avon), and his standing up to sing would have been the signal for them to set to work, so that the pitch of the music about to be sung could be established by the organ player.  If all this – pulpitum and bellows-room – seems like a fantasy in a church as supposedly well-understood as Redcliffe, there is another matter there which needs to be considered.  
To any discerning eye, the sudden drop in ceiling levels behind the high altar into Redcliffe’s eastern Lady Chapel is disturbing - and all the more obvious now, because of the absence of a pulpitum.  The high altar of a large church would normally have been adorned with a large ‘reredos’, a series of tables behind the altar stretching up high, as in some major college chapels at Oxbridge and at Ottery St Mary in Devon.  Such a screen would have masked the discrepancy in ceiling heights, as it does at Ottery.  There was a similar altar screen at Hitchin parish church in Hertfordshire ; access to its loft and lights was through a high door via a newel stairway.  At Redcliffe there are what look like two blocked doorways high in the stone panelling on each side of the sanctuary at just the right places to step out onto the platform of a high altar screen.  It remains to be determined if the two staircases whose turrets are such prominent, but otherwise rather enigmatic, features of the interior of the Lady Chapel might have led upwards though the various roof spaces first of the Chapel and then of the sanctuary alleys and thence to these doorways.
These examples are adduced simply to repeat the refrain that one cannot establish a simple or general scheme for rood-lofts or quasi-pulpitums, in wood or stone ; the only certain thing is that there was a general requirement to have some such demarcation structure in every church.  An element of deduction has to be introduced where there are not the usual traces of one of these – provided that one has eliminated the all too frequent possibility that a restoring architect who rebuilds a chancel arch, adds an organ chamber or remodels a whole chancel has done the job with sufficient thoroughness to eliminate all signs of such structures and their access.

The place of organs in the medieval church has also been a considerable source of myth-making (as opposed to looking into accounts, inventories, wills and contracts), as mentioned above.  It is clear, from even the relatively small number (around 400) of parish and collegiate churches that are definitely known from such archives to have possessed organs, that these churches were not always the largest or richest ; some were in quite ‘poor’ areas as well.  This leaves one to suppose that they were widespread.  At various times in the development of music the presence of an organ player, to alleviate the hours of singers’ work by sounding the organ in alternim with them, was vital for purely practical reasons, to rest the singers and to maintain pitch.  The proud possession of an organ by a college or guild also ‘adorned’ or ‘increased’ (as wills say) the service both sonically and visually.  
On this basis, it is worth considering carefully where these instruments might have been placed in a church building.  Surviving examples elsewhere in Europe show that they do not necessarily have a large footprint, but that their cases are tall and elegantly canted-out, sideways and forwards.  They were decorated much in the same way as everything else in the church, in natural colours and gold, their tin front pipes being decorated with paint and/or gilded.  Placed on a slim gallery against a blank north-eastern wall they would be accessibly near the singers, would look and sound well and not get in anyone’s way.  But the ‘wind-raising’ half, the bellows - as opposed to the ‘wind-consuming’ half of the plural word always used for this instrument – can take up a good deal of floor-space.  Two bellows, each of which might be 5 or 6 feet long by 2½ or 3 feet wide, are always needed, and for larger organs up to eight, with at least one operator and possibly two or three.  The room all these take up has to be found somewhere, not an easy task in a country church such as St Martin at Fincham in Norfolk where in 1503 Sir Nicholas Fincham, an ordained son of the local manor, left land for a chantry priest whose job, among other things, was to teach boys and ‘play the organs’.  It seems that he also caused the present north-eastern two-storey building
 to be built onto the church.  Perhaps his family also bought the stained glass of the window next to it ; this includes two medieval angel musicians, one playing a small portable organ.  If the arrangement there was the same as at Dennington on the eastern side of Suffolk, the bellows were placed in the loft (upper floor) of the chantry chapel and fed an organ placed in a gallery on the blank north wall of the sanctuary, the wind passing through a wooden wind-trunk about 5” square set inside a hole made through that wall between them, about 13 feet up from the floor.

At Stoke by Clare in Suffolk, where the college chapel comprised the eastern parts of the parochial church building, inventories of the 1520s and 1530s mention the presence (among other organs) of a ‘standing’ organ, meaning one placed high up.  In the north wall of the sanctuary there are three sawn-off joists of oak, only the outer two of which pass through the 30” wall into the vestry behind.  To the west of the vestry is a northern quire chapel and opening into it from the chancel is an open doorway in the same northern wall ; its sill is at the same height from datum floor level as the top of the cut-off joists.  Behind this doorway are three steps leading down towards a presumed ladder or wooden staircase - now missing - in the chapel.  The ‘vestry’ is in fact a secure sacristy with oak roof beams with fine mouldings and leaf chamfer-stops, just like those that Matthew Parker, last dean of the college of Stoke, had installed in the college buildings less than 200 yards away in the 1520s.  Above this, as part of a designed rebuilding of the whole church and not added on to it, is a loft of the same floor area, lit by a window on its east side.  All these arrangements would seem to point to only one thing : the presence of a ‘standing’ organ on a narrow gallery accessed through the doorway in the wall, with its bellows in the loft over the sacristy.
Nikolaus Pevsner, who would no more have allowed the possibility that a college quire was designed for the performance of music several hours a day than any other of his contemporaries, posited another theory for the doorway and joists (which at least he spotted, to his credit) in Buildings of England (Suffolk) :

 ‘The tower is Dec.  It belonged to an aisleless church with a chancel and a N
 vestry of two storeys.  The ceiling beams of this and an upper doorway still exist
 in the N wall of the present chancel.’
In fact, what Pevsner calls ‘ceiling beams’ (the joists of the organ gallery) are lower by nearly 3 feet than the ceiling beams of the sacristy, so that the wind for the bellows can be fed at the right level into the soundboard(s) of the organ.  If Pevsner had looked for the key to the ‘vestry’, hidden in the quire seating, he could have seen that for himself and perhaps come up with another theory.  He also should have realised that the doorway had nothing to do with the upper floor of the ‘vestry’; it is further west, in the north chapel next to it, as mentioned before.  If he had seen the inside of vestries at (for instance) Oundle in Northamptonshire and Diss in Norfolk he would have seen other entrances into organ lofts too.  In the two grand ruins on the Suffolk coast, the position of joists to support organ lofts at Covehithe and Walberswick (and an entrance to the loft at the former) are also easily to be seen now that the plaster has come off the north walls of the sanctuaries there, as also at Wiveton priory on the north Norfolk coast.  In the tower of Cratfield church in Suffolk there is half a substantial oak organ gallery, built in the same way as evidence at these churches suggests.  Until recently it was used to house the church clock; it undoubtedly was made to support the organ removed from the chancel about 1576.

On a larger scale, there is a story to be told about the collegiate chancel at Stratford-on- Avon in Warwickshire where there are thirty senior-singer stalls (the same number as at Salle).  Pevsner and Wedgwood noticed (in passing) the presence of ‘side doorways ... with ogee arches’ there but failed to see that the elaborate northern one, almost under Shakespeare’s bust, leads nowhere.  In fact until the early nineteenth century it led to a substantial three-storey building which almost certainly originally served as sacristy, bellows room and boys’ dormitory.
  Surviving traces of this were tidied away by Bodley and Garner from 1888 onwards ; such ‘restoration’ activity may have figured on William Morris’s charge-sheet against his former patron, a quarrel noted by Pevsner and Wedgewood.  Whether Morris realised that there had been an organ where Shakespeare’s bust is now, and that a former sacristy had been turned into a charnel house (so provoking the warning on the dramatist’s tombstone), is not known.  A photograph
 of the chancel shows that the lower parts of the two north-eastern windows here had previously been blocked (if they had ever been open), no doubt because the college’s organ and its gallery were placed there, opposite the medieval choir director’s seat.  

In Devon and Somerset, where there are proportionately many more entry systems to rood-lofts from the east side of the screen (and many more original or restored platforms), then there is the possibility that organs were sited on these lofts.  Organs could be placed either at their north or south ends, depending on where the stairway is, as it would be foolish to traverse the loft and its myriad ‘lights’ in choir robes.  These organs would be used in conjunction with guild chapels in the lateral quire chapels of these long-alleyed churches.  In the 1519 contract for building the very expensive suite of screens and lofts at Stratton in Cornwall, the joiners are specifically told to consult with the organ maker over providing a proper loft for the organ
 on the north side of the quire.  Such a position must have been common before organs themselves were reluctantly removed in the south-west once that region was fully subject to the Parliamentary edict of 1644 which ordered the total removal of organs along with other relics of a superstitious past.

Organs were slow to return to churches in general, but their position and role in worship remained commemorated in folk memory as being in ‘organ lofts’.  Once upon a time ‘the playing of the merry organ and sweet singing in the choir’ was indeed an everyday experience.  Everyday enough for us to remember now to take the mysterious and skilful art of making music, and all that entails, into account when we assess churches.  

Nowadays, we are more ready to abandon the idea of a single medieval design-concepter of buildings during the middle ages.  But perhaps we have some way to go before we appreciate that medieval musicians, including senior clergy who themselves were trained as musicians, would have had an important input into the planning and evolution of their working environment.

© Martin Renshaw, July 2015
http://soundsmedieval.org

This essay was written in the summer of 2015 as an entry in the competition for the Hawksmoor Prize offered by the Society of Architectural Historians of Great Britain. It did not win, but as it represents some of the research carried out from 2012 onwards, it is put on record here.
� Eamon Duffy, The Stripping of the Altars (Yale UP, 1992/2005)


� By means of an Act (Stat.3 and 4 Ed 6, latter part of 1548) to collect all Latin church books and to destroy them on pain of heavy penalties for non-compliance ; see ‘Constantius Archaeophilus’, Memoires of the Reformation in England in two parts, the whole collected chiefly from Acts of Parliament and Protestant historians, Keates and Brown, London, 1826, p204.


� John Baron, Scudamre organs, or Practical hints respecting organs for village churches and small chancels (1858), p 56 :  ‘I am fully  aware that many chancels are abused from their proper object, and are pewed up as much as any other part of the church : and I also know that there are still many chancels of village churches disused, frequented by frogs and such-like animals, so damp and ill-ventilated that even the clergyman thinks it a service of danger to go there on the Sunday to read the Communion Service ...’ 





� For instance, Erasmus wrote that while the Germans drank beer, the English sang.


� A suite of such rooms can still be seen at Warwick collegiate church ; see also note 42 re Stratford-on-Avon.


� Alistair Cooke, currently the captain of the English/MCC test team, was a boy chorister at St Paul’s cathedral.  He has publicly attributed his abilities as a high-level cricketer to those special skills acquired in his youth – as did his musician father, known to this writer.


� As at, for example, Chartres, where the stripped-out, marbled and baroquised east end of the cathedral visibly contradicts its widespread reputation as a perfect medieval church.  


� Surviving major chantry buildings at (e.g.) Cawston in Norfolk and Lenham and Faversham in Kent are also almost totally missing from the modern historical record.


� as at Quadring, Frampton and Wigtoft in just one small area of Lincolnshire


� as at Kelling and Pulham St Mary in Norfolk , Bishop’s Sutton in Hampshire and Etchingham in Sussex


� as at Mersham in Kent, and as was proposed at Stratford-on-Avon in the late 1880s


� ‘The formidable NE vestry ... [whose] lower E window is Victorian, the upper slit windows are genuine.’


� ‘The easternmost window on the N side has a blocked head only.  The tracery here is different ; it has just a touch of the coming Perp.  Below there was once an attached vestry (cf the piscina).’


� At Shottesbrooke an ugly large stone pulpit was placed by Street in the tower-crossing between founders’ and other lateral chapels ; the rood-screen was originally west of the tower (a screen was ‘restored’ and placed east of it by Street but has since been removed), and there is also a previously-unremarked consecrated mensa slab in the floor of the north chapel, reused for a brass of the 1560s. 


� a vestaria being the place in a monastery where clothes (undergarments, habits, hoods) are kept, repaired and handed out


� This and further linguistic references are derived mostly from the Shorter Oxford Dictionary.


� The importance of understanding the use of the term ‘church’ may be exemplified in the history of Reginald Ely’s work at Burwell in Cambridgeshire.  Here, John Higham (vicar from 1439 to 1467) left money in his will for the ‘church newly begun’.  As the chancel arch is dated 1464 on an inscription above it, this must mean that the eastern parts were already complete by Higham’s death, leaving the western ‘church’ or ecclesia yet to be completed.   


� at Tamworth in Staffordshire, for example, where the squints are very large


� One of the reasons for maintaining churchwardens’ accounts was to perpetuate the memory of gifts to the church.


� ‘Golgothas’ must have been more common than the now-unique example at Cullompton in Devon. 


� A rare example is at Attleborough in Norfolk, where it is possible to study the joinery of the whole system in detail ; unfortunately the original painting on the balustrades was over-painted with the arms of the post-Reformation dioceses. 


� SOD citation under ‘college’


� late-medieval ‘brass’ eagles’ wing feathers splay outwards to support wide volumes such as gospellers and antiphoners


� where the central ‘Angel tower’ contained bells (one of 1288) from 1316 ; a gilded angel on its top was transferred to the new ‘Angel steeple’ in 1472 and then lost during Reformation upheavals 


� as at Tideswell church in Derbyshire, where it sits on the floor of the south ‘transept’


� as at Branston-near-Belvoir in Leicestershire, on the southern edges of the north-eastern nave arch near a blocked squint 


� are they for the display of tracery or to let in light ?


� A really curious person might also wish to know if the pattern of the window tracery was determined by any iconographical scheme in the glass or vice versa.   Also why certain windows, including those north and south in chancels, are barred and others not. 


� as at Branscombe in Devon, on north and south sides, and North Burlingham in Norfolk, south side 


� The Eton Choirbook, containing  music selected from England’s best quire composers, is an astonishing testimony to the musical vigour of the last 75 years of the Latin era.  Five hundred years later, its musical demands are only now being adequately met. 


� See, inter alia, a paper by Carvalho, Desarnaulds and Loerincik ; there are jars in the quires of the chapels at All Souls’ and New College, Oxford. 


� The chapel’s present acoustics may not have been those originally designed ; Harvey (The Perpendicular Style, p185) points out ‘The austere concept of Henry VI and his architect Reginald Ely of the kind of building King’s College Chapel should be, has been signally falsified by the rich adornments of John Wastell’s completion (1508-15) ...’. 


�The development of screens from early arcaded-stone (Reculver and Lyminge in Kent) to arcades which incorporated wood screens (Great Bardfield in Essex and Westwell in Kent) and via stone-dado (Branscombe in Devon and formerly at Tintinhull in Somerset) to all-wood screens and pulpitums seems not yet well understood. 


� The persistent myth that priests regularly mounted to the rood loft-platform in mass vestments can have been originated only by someone – probably Aymer Vallance -  who cannot ever have climbed a ‘normal’ western-entry staircase.


� as at Hexham’s former abbey in Northumberland


� As at Warehorne in Kent, where two organs were recorded to be in the church in the Edwardian inventories.


� As was the case in new St Paul’s before the organ was divided and moved westwards to open out the quire in the 1870s.


� Problems of hard-and-fast nomenclature are also exemplified here ; for instance, how would one describe the now-missing pulpitum/screen in Winchester college chapel ?


� placed on a platform to the north of the quire, as at Melrose abbey until this was closed down, and as at Canterbury cathedral until the 1780s


� presumed to be the chantry chapel but now lined with pine panels from former box pews which might hide a drain


� CWA Cratfield : [c1576] It. for takyne downe the organ case  iiij s ; ‘The present clock-bell, inscribed  +Virginis Egregie & Vxor Campana Mariae/ Prey for The Sole of William Aleys, is in all probability the sance [sanctus] bell of the 1553 return’ (Holland and Raven, transcribers, 1895).  This bell is now in the ‘vestry’, a former north-eastern chantry chapel.


� According to Dugdale (‘Warwickshire’), the college statutes stipulated that the boys ‘... should have one Bed-chamber in the Church ... in which they were to sleep by couples’.


� reproduced in Michael Hall, ‘G F Bodley...’ (Yale 2014). p331


� As they were also in building the Beauchamp chapel at Warwick, according to Dugdale : ‘... Richard Bird and John Haynes, Citizens and Carpenters of London xii Fbr. 28 H 6 do covenant to make and set up in the Chapell where the Earll is buried, or where the Tombe standeth, a pair of Desks of timber, Poppies, seats, sills, planks, Reredoses of timber, with patands of timber, and a crest of fine entail, with a bowtel roving on the crest.   And also the carpenters do covenant to make and set up, finely, and workmanly a parclose of timber about an Organ-loft ordained to stand over the West dore of the said Chapell, according to patterns. ...’





